SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 47316-0-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II, OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JAN 3 1 2017
WASHINGTON STATE
SUPREME COURT

BUSINESS SERVICES OF AMERICA II, INC.,

Appellant,

v.

WAFERTECH LLC,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Eric R. Hultman, WSB #17414 Hultman Law Office 218 Main St., #477 Kirkland, WA 98033 (425) 943-0649

Prof. Bradley Shannon, WSB #18370 Florida Coastal School of Law 8787 Baypine Road Jacksonville, FL 32256 (904) 680-7745

Attorneys for Petitioner Business Service America II, Inc.

A. INTRODUCTION AND IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Business Service America II, Inc. ("BSA II") asks the court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision designated in Part B of this Petition. That decision terminated review of a final judgment appealable as a matter of right under RAP 2.2(a)(1), without reaching the merits of the judgment appealed. The decision conflicts with settled law and violates RAP 1.2(a) exhorting the Court of Appeals to reach a decision on the merits. The rules are to be applied to reach the merits, not adjudicate actions on technicalities. *Fox v. Sackman*, 22 Wn.App. 707, 709, 591 P.2d 855 (1979). The decision makes a mockery of the right of review under RAP 2.2(a)(1).

The basis for the Court of Appeals avoiding review on the merits was the plaintiff's supposed lack of capacity, a pleading objection the defendant waived by waiting thirteen years before raising it while the action was on appeal for the third time. The result was to deny BSA II any recovery on a \$4 million lien claim.

The Court of Appeals failed to apply numerous applicable court rules and legal authority, including: (1) CR 12 regarding waiver of objections to a plaintiff's capacity to sue, (2) CR 15 permitting a party to amend to address a capacity objection, (3) CR 25 permitting substitution of an assignee or the action continuing in the name of the assignor, and (4)

case law that an assigned claim can be adjudicated even though the assignee is not named as a party.

This Petition arises over eighteen years after the original plaintiff properly commenced this action in 1998 to foreclose its mechanic's lien against defendant WaferTech LLC. The plaintiff assigned its claim to BSA II. BSA II, as assignee, was made the plaintiff in 2001, but was mistakenly named Business Services of America II, Inc., ("BSofA") in the amended complaint, rather than BSA II.

BSA II and BSofA are not separate entities. There is no evidence a corporation named BSofA ever existed. CP 767. BSA II and BSofA both refer to the same entity. The misidentification of the assignee as "Business Services of America II, Inc." rather than "Business Service America II, Inc." originated in a letter from WaferTech's counsel to BSA II's counsel. CP 702-3. There is no evidence in the record that WaferTech or its counsel was ever confused as to the identity of the plaintiff.

There was a trial in 2002, then an appeal, with BSA II's lien claim remanded to the trial court. In 2013, the trial court entered a summary judgment in favor of WaferTech, which BSA II timely appealed.

The Court of Appeals never reviewed the summary judgment.

Instead, after WaferTech objected to the appeal being pursued by BSofA,

the Court of Appeals remanded to the trial court for proceedings regarding BSofA's capacity and ability to pursue the appeal, despite WaferTech having never objected to BSofA's capacity in the trial court, waiving any capacity objection. Washington courts are unanimous that a defendant who fails to timely object to the plaintiff's capacity in the trial court waives such an objection. *Dearborn Lumber Co. v. Upton Enterprises*, *Inc.*, 34 Wn.App. 490, 493, 662 P.2d 76 (1983); *Trust Fund Services v. Glasscar, Inc.*, 19 Wn.App. 736, 745, 577 P.2d 980 (1978).

When the action was remanded to the trial court, BSA II moved under CR 15 and CR 25 to address WaferTech's waived capacity objection by changing the plaintiff's name from BSofA to BSA II.

Inexplicably, the trial court denied the motions. CR 15 motions that only change the plaintiff are routinely granted. *Sprague v. Sysco Corp.*, 97 Wn.App. 169, 172, 982 P.2d 1202 (1999). Instead, the trial court ruled that BSofA lacked the capacity to sue.

After the action returned to the Court of Appeals, BSA II sought review of the trial court's denial of its CR 15 and CR 25 motions. The Court of Appeals did not address WaferTech's waiver of its capacity objection or BSA II's CR 15 or CR 25 motions. The Court of Appeals affirmed BSofA's lack of capacity, terminating review without addressing the effect, if any, of BSofA's lack of capacity on the action.

The end result is that by refusing to review the summary judgment, and instead focusing on a waived and correctible objection to capacity (a pleading matter), the Court of Appeals failed to decide the merits of BSA II's \$4 million lien claim, denying any recovery.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Court of Appeals, Div. II, issued a decision dated October 18, 2016, terminating review, and then denied a motion for reconsideration on December 28, 2016. A copy of the opinion is in the Appendix at A-1 through A-7. A copy of the order denying reconsideration is in the Appendix at A-8.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Did the Court of Appeals err by ignoring prior appellate court decisions that a defendant who fails to timely move under CR 12 to object to the plaintiff's capacity prior to trial waives that objection?
- 2. Did the Court of Appeals err by ignoring prior appellate court decisions that a plaintiff is entitled to address objections to capacity prior to the court taking any adverse action on the plaintiff's claims?
- 3. Will review of the Court of Appeals decision bring up for review WaferTech's waiver of its objection to BSofA's capacity and BSA II's right to address that objection?

4. Is review necessary to avoid having BSA II's \$4 million claim determined by a pleading error (a typographical error)?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The history of this action has been that BSA II has been engaged in the almost Sisyphean task of pushing this matter forward to obtain an adjudication on the merits, with WaferTech repeatedly trying to avoid it.

1. This action was commenced by a subcontractor on a large construction project to foreclose a mechanic's lien for which it is seeking over \$4 million.

The original plaintiff in this action, Natkin/Scott, commenced this action under RCW 60.04.171 to foreclose its mechanic's lien for work as a subcontractor on a large construction project owned by WaferTech. CP 1. The contract price of the unpaid work was over \$1.1 million. CP 534. With prejudgment interest for over eighteen years, plus attorney's fees as the prevailing party, BSA II now seeks over \$4 million.

2. WaferTech did not object to the substitution of BSofA as the plaintiff prior to trial of the lien claim in 2002.

Natkin/Scott assigned its lien claim to BSA II in exchange for valuable consideration. CP 707. BSA II has debts that will be paid out of the proceeds of BSA II's recovery. CP 708.

Relying upon the assignment documents naming BSA II as the assignee, WaferTech moved to require that BSA II, as the real party in

interest, be made the plaintiff. CP 997. BSA II then filed the second amended complaint, asserting the lien claim. CP 698. The amended complaint incorrectly named the plaintiff/assignee BSofA. CP 698.

WaferTech did not plead an objection to the capacity of BSofA to sue in its answer. CP 117. WaferTech never filed a motion in the trial court asserting BSofA lacked capacity.

3. BSofA was twice named as the judgment debtor and appellant, without objection by WaferTech.

After a trial in 2002 in which WaferTech prevailed on an affirmative defense, WaferTech obtained a judgment against "BSofA" for nearly \$800,000 in attorney's fees and costs under RCW 60.04.181(3) as the prevailing party. CP 608. That judgment was satisfied. CP 284. The Court of Appeals remanded the lien claim for further proceedings. Unpublished Opinion (March 9, 2004).

There was a dismissal and second judgment against "BSofA" for attorney's fees in 2009, which this court reversed. *Business Services of America II, Inc. v. WaferTech LLC*, 174 Wn.2d 304, 274 P.3d 1025 (2014).

After remand, the trial court granted summary judgment to
WaferTech on a different affirmative defense in 2013. CP 572. It then

entered a third judgment against "BSofA." CP 616. BSA II (identified as BSofA) timely appealed. CP 604.

4. WaferTech suddenly objected to the plaintiff's capacity while the action was on appeal in 2014.

During the appeal in 2014, WaferTech suddenly moved to dismiss the appeal on the ground that "BSofA" was not an "aggrieved party" under RAP 3.1. BSA II opposed the motion. The commissioner denied the motion without prejudice to WaferTech raising it again in its brief.

Commissioner's Ruling, January 9, 2014.

BSA II attempted to address WaferTech's objection to BSofA by moving in the trial court under CR 60(a) to change the name of the plaintiff in the judgment being appealed to BSA II, the name of the assignee. CP 637, 669. The trial court denied the motion without entering any findings regarding the correct name of the assignee. CP 690. BSA II again appealed. CP 693. The commissioner consolidated the two appeals.

The Court of Appeals did not rule on WaferTech's renewed RAP 3.1 motion contained in its brief, nor did it rule on the merits of the summary judgment in 2013. It remanded the action to the trial court to determine the BSofA's capacity and ability to pursue the appeal.

Unpublished Opinion, p. 14 (October 21, 2014). In the opinion, it incorrectly stated the assignment document from Natkin/Scott to BSA II

was not in the trial court record. Unpublished Opinion, p. 8 (October 21, 2014). That document was filed in the trial court in 2001. CP 1073-1106.

3. <u>BSA II again attempted to address WaferTech's capacity</u> objection after remand in 2014.

On remand, the trial court denied BSA II's motions under CR 15 and CR 25 to address WaferTech's objection to BSofA's capacity, without finding (1) that BSofA was the name of the assignee or (2) any prejudice to WaferTech if it granted any of the motions. CP 766. The trial court ruled BSofA lacked capacity. *Id*.

BSA II appealed the order denying its CR 15 and CR 25 motions. CP 770. BSA II assigned error to the trial court's 2013 summary judgment and denial of its CR 15 and CR 25 motions. BSA II's Opening Brief, Ass. of Err. Nos. 1 and 6, pp. 2-3.

4. The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's ruling that the plaintiff lacked capacity, but ignored WaferTech's waiver of its objection and the trial court's denial of BSA II's CR 15 and CR 25 motions.

The Court of Appeals then issued its latest opinion terminating review on the basis of BSofA's lack of capacity, in effect granting WaferTech's RAP 3.1 motion, but ignoring (1) WaferTech's waiver of its objection, and (2) BSA II's efforts under CR 15 and CR 25 to address WaferTech's waived objection. The opinion did not address what effect,

if any, BSofA's lack of capacity had on the action, or the merits of the summary judgment in 2013.

E. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Petitions for review are granted when the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with other Court of Appeals decisions and Supreme Court decisions. RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2). This Petition shows that the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with, and fails to address, settled law on (1) waivers of objections to capacity, and (2) the right to address objections to capacity prior to courts taking any adverse action based on the objection.

The decision this Petition seeks to review was the final decision by the Court of Appeals on WaferTech's motion to dismiss the appeal of a summary judgment based on the appellant's lack of capacity, so it brings up for review that summary judgment and any issues related to capacity.

By ignoring settled law on objections to capacity, the Court of Appeals avoided addressing the merits of the summary judgment entered in 2013 on the \$4 million lien claim. Without review by this court, BSA II will be denied appellate review of a final judgment based on a typographical error in its name that had no effect on the action, as BSA II is already bound by the results in this action.

F. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

1. The Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with other decisions regarding waiver of objections to capacity.

WaferTech waived any objection it had to BSofA's alleged lack of capacity by waiting until the action was on appeal in 2014 to raise the objection for the first time. An objection to capacity is waived if not timely raised in the trial court. *Dearborn Lumber*, 34 Wn.App. at 493; *Trust Fund Services*, 19 Wn.App. at 745.

Here, WaferTech's motion to dismiss the 2013 appeal of the summary judgment based on BSofA's lack of capacity was twelve years too late and in the wrong court. The second amended complaint with "BSofA" asserting a lien claim was filed in 2001, with trial of the lien claim in 2002. WaferTech was obligated object to BSofA's lack of capacity by motion in the trial court prior to trial in 2002. When WaferTech failed to do so, it waived its objection.

Waiver of capacity objections is settled law. In *Dearborn Lumber*, the defendant waited until trial to object to the plaintiff's capacity.

34 Wn.App. at 492. The defendant argued on appeal that the plaintiff lacked capacity. The Court of Appeals ruled the requirement to timely object prior to trial was so clear (it cited decisions from 1912 and 1916),

that the defendant was pursuing a frivolous appeal, sanctioning the defendant. 34 Wn.App. at 494.

In *Trust Fund Services*, the defendant sought to raise an objection to the plaintiff's capacity in the trial court *after* a summary judgment hearing. The appellate court noted that the defendant "did not comply with the requirements" for timely objecting to capacity, denying the objection. 19 Wn.App. at 745.

Federal courts, applying comparable rules on objections to capacity to our Civil Rules, agree that the objection is waived if not asserted by motion prior to trial. Wright & Miller, Fed. Prac. & Pro.: Civil 3d § 1295, pp. 27-29 (2004); 2 Moore's Fed. Prac. § 9.02[6], p. 9-15 (3rd Ed. 2016).

Lack of capacity is not a jurisdictional issue that cannot be waived under CR 12(h)(3); it is a defense in the nature of a failure to state a claim governed by CR 12(h)(2). Foothills Dev't Co. v. Clark County Bd. of County Com'rs, 46 Wn.App. 369, 730 P.2d 1369 (1986) (defendant timely raised its capacity objection prior to trial, so it was not waived).

The only authority on capacity cited by the Court of Appeals was *Roth v. Drainage Improvement Dist. No. 5*, 64 Wn.2d 586, 392 P.2d 1012 (1964). There, the defendant timely raised the lack of capacity objection by motion prior to trial. 64 Wn.2d at 587. Nowhere does *Roth* state that

the objection cannot be waived or that it can be raised for the first time on appeal. *Roth* does not support the Court of Appeals' decision.

The Court of Appeals should have denied WaferTech's motion to dismiss the appeal, proceeding to review the summary judgment. BSA II, as Natkin/Scott's assignee, would still be bound by the result. An assignee is bound by the results whether made a party or not. *Stella Sales, Inc. v. Johnson*, 97 Wn.App. 11, 17-8, 985 P.2d 391 (1999).

2. The Court of Appeals decision conflicts with prior decisions allowing a party to address objections to capacity, either by amendment, substitution, or ratification.

Even though it was not necessary to name BSA II as the plaintiff in order to deny WaferTech's motion to dismiss the appeal of the 2013 summary judgment, BSA II sought to do so. The Court of Appeals acted contrary to prior appellate decisions by affirming, without explanation, the trial court's refusal to name BSA II, a party with capacity that was already bound by the result, the plaintiff. A proper objection to capacity is not intended to be dispositive, as it does not prevent a plaintiff with capacity from pursuing the claim. *Roth*, 64 Wn.2d at 587.

There are numerous avenues for addressing an objection to capacity, or where here, there is an error in naming the plaintiff, including amendment, substitution, and/or ratification. An objection to a plaintiff's capacity may be addressed by amending under CR 15 to name as plaintiff

a party with capacity. *Lewis v. Root*, 53 Wn.2d 781, 786, 337 P.2d 52 (1959). An amendment to change the plaintiff can be made after judgment, as such an "amendment changes nothing except who benefits from the action." *Miller v. Campbell*, 164 Wn.2d 529, 537-9, 192 P.3d 352 (2008).

When the wrong party is named in a pleading, the party making the mistake is permitted to amend to correct the error, as "[d]ismissal should not be granted on a mere technicality easily remedied by amendment." *In* re Marriage of Morrison, 26 Wn.App. 571, 573, 613 P.2d 557 (1980).

Where, as here, there has been an assignment while the action was pending, CR 25(c) applies. Orland & Tegland, 3A Wash. Prac.: Rules Prac. CR 25, p. 560 (2006). The action may continue in the name of the original plaintiff, unless the court directs that the assignee be substituted or joined. CR 25(c). The trial court here never required that BSA II be made the plaintiff, as WaferTech requested in 2001. The action could be pursued in the name of Natkin/Scott, the original plaintiff.

The Court of Appeals should have denied WaferTech's motion to dismiss BSA II's appeal of the summary judgment based on WaferTech's objection to BSofA being the plaintiff, instead of remanding to the trial court. When it did remand, there was no basis to deny BSA II's CR 15 and CR 25 motions in response to WaferTech's motion.

3. WaferTech's waiver of its objection to BSofA's capacity and BSA II's attempts to address that objection are within the scope of review of the Court of Appeals' decision terminating review.

BSA II is seeking review of the Court of Appeals' decision to terminate review based on BSofA's lack of capacity. BSA II was the appellant below, entitled to seek review of that decision. A party may seek review in this court of any Court of Appeals' decision terminating review. RAP 13.3(a)(1).

BSA II was Natkin/Scott's assignee intending to use the proceeds to pay its debts, giving it a pecuniary interest in the \$4 million lien claim. That makes BSA II an aggrieved party. "An aggrieved party is one whose proprietary, pecuniary, or personal rights are substantially affected."

Cooper v. City of Tacoma, 47 Wn.App. 315, 316, 734 P.2d 541 (1987).

In reviewing the Court of Appeals' decision to terminate review based on BSofA's lack of capacity, which effectively granted
WaferTech's RAP 3.1 motion, it is relevant whether (1) WaferTech
waived its objection to BSofA's capacity or (2) BSA II was entitled to
address WaferTech's objection to avoid dismissal based on that objection.
If WaferTech waived the objection or BSA II properly addressed it, the
Court of Appeals should have denied the RAP 3.1 motion.

The trial court denied BSA II's CR 15 and CR 25 motions to address WaferTech's objection to BSofA's lack of capacity. Granting either motion would have rendered WaferTech's RAP 3.1 motion moot, as BSofA would no longer be the plaintiff/appellant. Denial of the CR 15 and 25 motions in effect determined the action. Decisions that in effect determine an action are appealable as a matter of right. RAP 2.2(a)(3).

BSA II's post-remand motions under CR 15 and 25 to address BSofA's alleged lack of capacity were within the scope of the 2014 mandate. The remand was directed to "determine BSofA's legal status and BSofA's ability to pursue its appeal against WaferTech." BSofA's legal status was that it never existed; it was a misnomer for BSA II, the assignee, which the CR 15 and CR 25 motions addressed.

In addition, upon remand, the trial court is authorized to "hear and decide postjudgment motions" that "do not challenge issues already decided by the appellate court." RAP 12.2. The Court of Appeals had never decided whether BSA II could amend under CR 15 or be substituted under CR 25, prior to BSA II filing those motions, nor had there been any findings or rulings that BSA II was not the assignee at the time of the amended complaint naming the assignee as BSofA.

CR 15 and CR 25 motions can be made after judgment is entered.

Ennis v. Ring, 56 Wn.2d 465, 470, 353 P.2d 950 (1960) (CR 15 motion

can be made at any time, even after judgment and appeal); *Stella Sales*, 97 Wn.App. at 18 (CR 25 motion may be made after entry of judgment). Both this court and the Court of Appeals noted in a prior appeal in this action that the Civil Rules apply upon remand. *Business Services of America II*, 174 Wn.2d at 310.

The proceedings after the remand in 2014 were BSA II's first opportunity to use CR 15 and CR 25 to address WaferTech's capacity objection. If WaferTech had properly objected in the trial court, there would have been no issue as to whether BSA II could use CR 15 and/or CR 25 to address WaferTech's objection. To deny review of the CR 15 and CR 25 motions based on the 2014 mandate would reward WaferTech for improperly waiting until appeal to object to BSofA's capacity.

Once the Court of Appeals did not deny WaferTech's motion to dismiss the appeal, relief under CR 15 or CR 25 would be a basis for denying the motion to dismiss the appeal. That made those motions determinative, with the Court of Appeals obligated to review them. The appellate court must review and decide all determinative issues. *Hall v. American Nat'l Plastics, Inc.*, 73 Wn.2d 203, 205, 437 P.2d 693 (1968).

Once WaferTech's motion to dismiss the appeal was denied, the Court of Appeals then would have proceeded to properly review the merits of the appeal, which was the summary judgment on the \$4 million lien

claim. The summary judgment was a final judgment appealable as a matter of right under RAP 2.2(a)(1).

"Law of the case" does not bar review of the summary judgment.

RAP 12.7(d) provides that RAP 2.5(c)(2) is an exception to the finality of a mandate. Under RAP 2.5(c)(2), prior appellate court decisions may be reviewed "where justice would best be served." Prior decisions are reviewed where to not do so would work an injustice to one party. Folsom v. City of Spokane, 111 Wn.2d 256, 264, 759 P.2d 1196 (1988).

It would be an injustice to BSA II and its creditors to deny review of a summary judgment, and ultimately any recovery for a \$4 million lien claim, on the basis of an untimely, waived, and easily correctible objection to the plaintiff's capacity. A right of appeal, which BSA II timely exercised in 2013 after the summary judgment, is meaningless if the Court of Appeals never reviews the matter appealed.

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