# RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON CLERK'S OFFICE

Feb 27, 2017, 3:05 pm

## RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

Cause No. 94088-6

# SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 47316-0-II

# COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

# BUSINESS SERVICES OF AMERICA II, INC.,

Appellant,

v.

### WAFERTECH LLC,

Respondent.

# ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

JAMES T. MCDERMOTT WSBA No. 30883 GABRIEL M. WEAVER WSBA No. 45831 BALL JANIK LLP 101 SW Main Street, Suite 1100

Portland, OR 97204 T: (503) 228-2525 F: (503) 226-3910 HOWARD M. GOODFRIEND WSBA No. 14355 SMITH GOODFRIEND, P.S. 1619 8th Avenue North Seattle, WA 98109 T: (206) 624-0974

F: (206) 624-0809

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

# V. ARGUMENT WHY THIS COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW

A. This Case is Not About a "Typographical Error" or a "Misnomer."

BSofA's petition for review rests on a false premise—that the Court of Appeals did not reach the merits of BSofA's claim against WaferTech because of a "misnomer" or a "typographical error" in the plaintiff's name. Petition at 2. The record refutes that contention. In the trial court, BSofA moved (three separate times!) to correct the supposed

typographical error in the plaintiff's name. Each time, BSofA argued that that BSAII, not BSofA, was the actual assignee of Natkin/Scott's claim against WaferTech. (CP 637, 669, 732) Each time, BSofA failed in the trial court to meet its burden proving the existence of a typographical error.

In its 2014 opinion, the Court of Appeals held that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in refusing to grant BSofA's "misnomer" motions. The Court of Appeals in 2014 found substantial evidence in the record that BSofA—not BSAII—was the correct plaintiff. October 21, 2014 Opinion at 8-9 (observing, inter alia, that: (1) two separate amended complaints identified BSofA as the plaintiff; (2) BSofA filed myriad court documents that identified BSofA as the plaintiff; (3) earlier judgments for over \$800,000 in attorney fees against BSofA were paid; and (4) Joseph Guglielmo—identified in 2014 as the ostensible president of BSAII signed an acknowledgement (as president of BSofA) that BSofA was the assignee of Natkin/Scott's claims.) The Court of Appeals' 2014 decision thus affirmed the trial court's denial of BSofA's "misnomer" motions and remanded to the trial court with narrow instructions to determine whether BSofA—not BSAII—had any independent legal existence sufficient to continue the appeal. Id. at 14.

# B. The Law of the Case Doctrine Precludes Review of the Court of Appeals' October 2014 Opinion.

The Court of Appeals did not abuse its discretion in adhering to the law of the case and refusing to revisit its 2014 Opinion. Notably, BSofA did not seek review of the Court of Appeals' 2014 Opinion. Therefore, the "misnomer" issue has now been litigated through final appeal and is now law of the case. BSofA asks this Court to ignore the law of the case doctrine and overturn the Court of Appeals' October 21, 2014 Opinion. Petition at 18. But this Court has consistently ruled that exceptions to the law of the case doctrine are narrow and that "an appellate court may reconsider only those decisions that were clearly erroneous and that would work a manifest injustice to one party if the clearly erroneous decision were not set aside." State v. Worl, 129 Wn.2d 416, 425, 918 P.2d 905 (1996) (holding that the law of the case doctrine barred the Court of Appeals from reconsidering an earlier ruling); see also Folsom v. City of Spokane, 111 Wn.2d 256, 265, 759 P.2d 1196 (1988) (appellate court can only reconsider its prior ruling if the prior ruling is clearly erroneous); Adamson v. Traylor, 66 Wn.2d 338, 339, 402 P.2d 499 (1965) (holding that "questions determined on appeal, or which might have been determined had they been presented, will not again be considered on a subsequent appeal if there is no substantial change in the evidence at a

second determination of the cause" and that "the supreme court is bound by its decision on the first appeal until such time as it might be authoritatively overruled.")

The Court of Appeals' exercise of its discretion to refuse to review an earlier decision presents no issue for review under RAP 13.4(b). *See State v. Schwab*, 163 Wn.2d 664, 674, 185 P.3d 1151 (2008) ("Application of RAP 2.5(c)(2) is ultimately discretionary.") There has been no intervening change in the law or substantial change in the evidence since the Court of Appeals held in 2014 that the trial court properly exercised its discretion in denying BSofA's "misnomer" motions. Nor can BSofA point to a manifest injustice that would result from adhering to that 2014 decision.

The trial court similarly did not err in refusing to exceed the scope of the 2014 mandate from the Court of Appeals. In its 2014 Opinion, the Court of Appeals gave the trial court a very narrow mandate on remand: to determine whether BSofA had independent legal existence sufficient to continue its appeal. October 21, 2014 Opinion at 11. Ignoring the limited scope of that mandate, BSofA continued to assert its "misnomer" argument. (CP 725, 732). The trial court properly held that renewed consideration of BSofA's "misnomer" argument -- this time re-packaged under CR 15 and 25 -- was outside the scope of the trial court's mandate.

February 19, 2015 Transcript of Proceedings at p. 15:13-17 (Judge Gregerson: "[T]he Court of Appeals' mandate specifically wants this Court to address what, if any, is the status of the named plaintiff in this proceeding and that will be the limited inquiry of the Court [at the show-cause hearing]."

"determine BSofA's legal status and BSofA's ability to pursue its appeal against WaferTech." Petition at 15. *Id.* But then BSofA goes on to argue that "BSofA's legal status was that it never existed; it was a misnomer for BSAII, the assignee, which the CR 15 and CR 25 motions addressed." *Id.* But the Court of Appeals had already decided that BSofA was *not* a "misnomer" for BSAII, and that BSAII was *not* the assignee of Natkin/Scott's claim against WaferTech. October 21, 2014 Opinion at 8-9.

The trial court was correct. The Court of Appeals in 2014 had already decided that BSofA was not a "misnomer." BSofA did not ask this Court to review that decision. RAP 12.2 authorizes trial courts to "hear and decide post judgment motions" only "so long as those motions do not challenge issues already decided by the appellate court." RAP 12.2. *See Schwab*, 163 Wn. 2d at 676 ("only an *appellate* court can revisit an earlier appellate decision") (emphasis in original).

In 2015, the trial court correctly determined that reconsideration of the "misnomer" issue was outside the scope of its mandate. In 2016, the Court of Appeals properly declined to revisit the "misnomer" issue because that issue was outside the scope of its 2014 mandate. October 18, 2016 Op. at 4, n.8. This Court should likewise decline BSofA's invitation to review the Court of Appeals' 2014 affirmance of the trial court's determination that BSofA is *not* a "misnomer" or typographical error for BSAII.

C. The Court of Appeals' October 2016 Opinion Does Not Involve a Significant Question of Law But is the Straightforward Result of BSofA's Concession that BSofA Lacks Legal Existence

The only issue presented by the Court of Appeals' decision is whether that court properly reviewed the trial court's findings regarding BSofA's lack of capacity for substantial evidence. That decision presents no ground for review. The Court of Appeals properly reviewed the trial court's findings for substantial evidence in light of the mandate and in the context of the substantial litigation history between these parties.

At the trial court's February 2015 show-cause hearing, BSofA's counsel conceded, "I don't have any evidence that [BSofA] exists."

February 20, 2015 Transcript of Proceedings at p. 6:8-10. At the conclusion of the show-cause hearing, the trial court fulfilled its mandate

from the Court of Appeals by entering findings of fact and conclusions of law establishing that BSofA had no legal existence and lacked the capacity to sue or be sued. (CP 766, 770).

The Court of Appeals properly affirmed those findings based on the well-established substantial evidence standard. October 18, 2016 Opinion at 4-5, citing *Scott's Excavating Vancouver*, *LLC v. Winlock Properties LLC*, 176 Wn.App. 335, 341, 308 P.3d 791 (2013) (substantial evidence is a "quantum of evidence sufficient to persuade a rational[,] fair-minded person the premise is true.") As the Court of Appeals noted, BSofA "conceded that it cannot demonstrate that BSofA was a legal entity" and that BSofA did not present any evidence it was a valid corporation or entity in any jurisdiction. October 18, 2016 Opinion at 5. The Court of Appeals' holding that there is substantial evidence that BSofA does not legally exist and does not have the capacity to sue or be sued conflicts with no established precedent and presents no issue of substantial public concern. RAP 13.4(b).

D. WaferTech did not "Waive" its Objection to BSofA's Capacity, Which is Not a "Technical Nicety," But an Irreparable Defect Of Standing That May Not Be Remedied By an Untimely and Futile "Amendment."

In asking this Court to hold that WaferTech somehow "waived" its objection to BSofA's lack of existence (Petition at 10-12), BSofA ignores

that it first raised this argument in its 2016 appellate motion for reconsideration. The Court of Appeals followed settled law in refusing to address it. *Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v. Bosley*, 118 Wn.2d 801, 809, 828 P.2d 549 (1992) ("An issue raised and argued for the first time in a reply brief is too late to warrant consideration"). Because the Court of Appeals' 2016 Opinion did not consider BSofA's belatedly-raised argument that WaferTech waived its objections to capacity, there is nothing for this Court to review under RAP 13.4(b).

In any event, BSofA's waiver argument is not supported by the record or by any of the cases it cites. In *Foothills Dev't Co. v. Clark Board of Co. Comm'rs*, 46 Wn.App. 369, 377, 730 P.2d. 1369 (Div. 2, 1986) (Pet. at 11) the Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's dismissal of defendant Clark Board of County Commissioners because the defendant was not a legal entity with capacity to sue or be sued, holding that the trial court properly rejected the plaintiff's argument that the defendant waived its lack of capacity objection by failing to raise the issue in its responsive pleading.

In *Dearborn Lumber Co. v. Upton Enterprises, Inc.*, 34 Wn.App. 490, 493-4, 662 P.2d. 76 (1983) (Pet. at 10), Division One held that the defendants should have raised the plaintiff's non-compliance with

Washington's assumed-name statute (RCW 19.80.010) prior to trial.<sup>1</sup> But BSofA has no legal existence whatsoever, a fact that was not known to WaferTech until *after* WaferTech won summary judgment against BSofA's remaining claim and BSofA refused to pay WaferTech's judgment or to post an appellate bond. *See* October 21, 2014 Opinion at 13 ("to the extent WaferTech took a position [concerning BSofA's legal status], WaferTech's position *derived from its reliance on BSofA's own identification of itself.*") (emphasis added).

Here, WaferTech did not learn that BSofA lacked legal existence until December 2013, when BSofA refused to post a second appellate bond or to pay WaferTech's \$430,110 judgment. WaferTech promptly brought the matter to the appellate court's attention, filing a RAP 3.1 motion to dismiss BSofA's appeal because BSofA was not an aggrieved party. *See Reese Sales Co., Inc., v. Grier*, 16 Wn.App. 664, 666-67, 557 P.2d 1326 (1977), where the Court of Appeals reversed the trial court's denial of defendant's motion to dismiss, holding that the plaintiff was a non-existent corporation and that the defendant did not waive its capacity objection.

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> See also Trust Fund Services v. Glasscar, Inc., 19 Wn.App. 736, 745, 577 P.2d 980 (1978) (the trial court did not err in denying the defendant's oral motion to amend to allege lack of capacity presented after losing motion for summary judgment and reconsideration) (Pet. at 3, 10, 11)

Even were this Court to consider BSofA's untimely motion to amend in the first instance, BSofA cannot now correct its inability to sue or be sued. Pet. at 12-13. Although the trial court properly rejected BSofA's CR 15 motion to amend its Third Amended Complaint by substituting the void entity BSAII as Plaintiff as outside the scope of its mandate, any such amendment would have been futile. *See Doyle v. Planned Parenthood of Seattle–King Cy., Inc.*, 31 Wash. App. 126, 132, 639 P.2d 240 (1982).

BSofA cites *Lewis v. Root*, 53 Wn.2d 781, 786, 337 P.2d 52 (1959), where this Court held that it was not error for the trial court to permit the plaintiff to amend its complaint to allege that the plaintiff had filed its certificate of assumed business name, as required by RCW 19.80.040. *Id.* Here, by contrast, BSofA has never had *any* legal existence and does not have any now, in any jurisdiction. Moreover, the entity BSofA proposes to substitute—BSAII—is not the assignee of Natkin/Scott's claim against WaferTech. And even if BSAII were the assignee, it is a long defunct Delaware corporation that lacks the capacity to substitute under controlling Delaware law. *Transpolymer Indus., Inc. v. Chapel Main Corp.*, 582 A.2d 936 (Del. 1990) (void Delaware corporation lacks capacity to sue or be sued).

Furthermore, BSofA waited far too long to bring a motion to substitute parties. When a party moves to amend its complaint "after the adverse granting of summary judgment, the normal course of proceedings is disrupted and the trial court should consider whether the motion could have been timely made earlier in the litigation." *Doyle at* 130-131, 639 P.2d 240 (1982) (holding that trial court did not err in denying post-summary judgment motion to amend complaint.)

WaferTech's discovery of BSofA's disingenuous prosecution of this litigation by a non-existent entity is not a "technical nicety" unrelated to the "merits." Petition at 18. BSofA's lack of existence fundamentally affects WaferTech's substantive rights, as evidenced by the fact that WaferTech is unable to enforce its existing judgment against a non-existent entity. Indeed, the Court of Appeals declined to award additional fees to WaferTech as a prevailing party in this appeal because "BSofA has no cognizable existence or capacity to sue or be sued, and thus, an award of attorney fees and costs is not appropriate." October 18, 2016 Opinion at 7. Continued litigation against a non-existent plaintiff would further prejudice WaferTech by forcing WaferTech to further incur attorney fees in litigation (under a fee-shifting statute) with an opponent against whom it can have no remedy.

Finally, it would be fundamentally unfair to allow a party to seek recovery from a solvent opponent while immunizing itself from any prevailing-party fee award by hiding behind a fictitious corporate shell. Because BSofA is a nullity that lacks capacity to sue or be sued, BSofA cannot have any financial, pecuniary, or personal interest in the outcome of the litigation and is not an aggrieved party within the meaning of RAP 3.1. *See Cooper v. City of Tacoma*, 47 Wn.App. 315, 316, 734 P.2d 541 (1987) (dismissing defendant city's appeal because city did not have a monetary or personal interest in outcome of the appeal). Thus, BSofA's resort to principles of fairness and "substantial justice" is meritless.

### VI. CONCLUSION

This Court should deny BSofA's petition for review. The Court of Appeals' October 18, 2016 Opinion does not conflict with precedent. The Court of Appeals' October 18, 2016 Opinion presents an issue that is of importance only to the parties—it is not an issue of "substantial public interest."